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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

ROBERT E. PACE, SR., 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

SADDLE CREEK CORP., 

 

     Respondent. 

_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 18-2697 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

On September 14, 2018, the final hearing in this matter was 

conducted by Hetal Desai, Administrative Law Judge of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings, in Lakeland, Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Robert E. Pace, Sr., pro se 

                 1100 North Davis Avenue 

                 Lakeland, Florida  33805 

 

For Respondent:  Helen Price Palladeno, Esquire 

                      Ogletree, Deakins, Nash,  

                        Smoak & Stewart, P.C. 

                      Suite 3600 

                      100 North Tampa Street 

                      Tampa, Florida  33602 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Whether Petitioner, Robert E. Pace, Sr., was subject to an 

unlawful employment practice by Respondent, Saddle Creek 

Corporation (Saddle Creek), based on his race in violation of the 
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Florida Civil Rights Act (FCRA) when it did not offer him “light 

duty” work while he was injured. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On June 19, 2017, Petitioner filed an Employment Complaint 

of Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(Commission) alleging the following: 

I am an African American.  I was 

discriminated against because of my race.  I 

began working for Respondent on January 22, 

1996.  My most recent position title was 

Forklift Driver.  I sustained an injury and 

my doctor placed me on light duty.  On 

January 24, 2017, Jason Jackson (Manager) 

would not allow me to return to work while I 

was on light duty.  However, a white employee 

(Jacob Bigsby) was injured and he was allowed 

to return to work on light duty.  Also 

Jessica Swinyner (white female) was injured 

at home and she was allowed to return to work 

with restrictions. 

 

The Commission issued a “Determination:  No Reasonable 

Cause” on May 15, 2018.   

On May 22, 2018, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief with 

the Commission to contest the Commission’s determination.  The 

next day, the Commission transmitted the Petition to the Division 

of Administrative Hearings (DOAH), where it was assigned to the 

undersigned and noticed for a final hearing.  

After one continuance, the final hearing was held on 

September 14, 2018.  Petitioner presented the testimony of two 

Saddle Creek employees, Brenda Ferguson and Jessica Swinyer; and 
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Exhibits P1 through P3 were admitted into evidence.  Respondent 

called Petitioner as a witness and offered the testimony of two 

other witnesses:  Carol Arkins, the site manager; and Jason 

Jackson, Petitioner’s shift supervisor.  Respondent’s exhibits R1 

through R22 were admitted into evidence. 

The parties indicated they would not be ordering a 

transcript.  Therefore, the parties were advised to submit 

proposed recommended orders to DOAH within ten days, or no later 

than September 24, 2018.  Both parties timely filed post-hearing 

submittals which were duly considered in preparing this 

Recommended Order. The rendering of this Recommended Order was 

delayed because of the unexpected closure of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings’ Tallahassee office from October 9 to 

October 12, 2018, caused by Hurricane Michael. 

Unless otherwise indicated, all statutory references are to 

the 2017 version of the Florida Statutes.  

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Parties and Relevant Policies 

1.  Petitioner is an African-American male, who was a Saddle 

Creek employee for over 24 years.
1/
 

2.  Saddle Creek is in the business of warehousing and 

distributing products and operates a number of worksites, 

including the Sam’s Club Distribution Warehouse (SC Warehouse), 
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where Petitioner was most recently employed.
2/
 Carol Arkins was 

the manager of the SC Warehouse. 

3.  Saddle Creek maintains a number of policies in its 2008 

employee handbook that are relevant to these proceedings.  First, 

it has an “Equal Opportunity” policy which purports a philosophy 

of “fair treatment” and states that it “employs, trains, 

compensates and promotes candidates and associates without regard 

to race.”  This policy applies to all aspects of employment, 

including job benefits. 

4.  Second, Saddle Creek has an “Injury or Illness” policy, 

which provides separate procedures and remedies for injuries and 

illnesses depending on whether they are work-related.  For 

nonwork-related injuries, such as the one suffered by Petitioner, 

this policy states: 

We will permit associates to work if they 

have work restrictions for non-work related 

injuries, personal illnesses or accidents on 

a case by case basis depending upon the 

restriction and our ability to accommodate 

the restrictions.  Allowing associates to 

continue working in jobs that could further 

injure or hinder improvement in medical 

conditions is not in the best interest of the 

associate or the Company.  Upon release for 

full duty from a physician, the associate may 

resume normal work activities. 

 

5.  Saddle Creek also had various types of paid leave that 

employees could utilize while they were sick or injured.  

“Vacation leave” could be used for absences with prior approval. 
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Vacation leave accumulates and carries over from year to year. 

Saddle Creek pays employees for any unused vacation leave at the 

end of his or her tenure.  

6.  “Personal time” leave is available for employees to be 

used at any time for any reason, including illness or injury.  

Personal time does not carry over and, if not used, expires. 

Petitioner’s Job Description 

7.  More than 50 people work on three different shifts at 

the SC Warehouse.  During the relevant time period, Petitioner 

worked 12-hour shifts, from approximately 5:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

on Mondays, Tuesdays, and Wednesdays.  Jason Jackson was 

Petitioner’s shift supervisor.  

8.  At all times relevant to these proceedings, Petitioner 

held the position of warehouse worker/forklift driver.  The 

written job description for “Warehouse Worker” indicates workers 

must be able to walk, stand, stoop, climb, and lift materials or 

equipment in order to perform their job duties.  Other warehouse 

worker positions include quality controller, verifier, dumber, 

and lead worker.  There is crossover of duties among the 

warehouse workers, but all of these positions require physically 

intensive work.   

9.  The forklift operator position requires, among other 

things, climbing in and out of the forklift machine four times 

during a shift:  the start of the shift (up into the machine); 



6 

during the break (up and down); during lunch (up and down); and 

at the end of the day (down from the machine). 

Petitioner’s Work Restrictions 

10.  On Monday, January 23, 2017, Petitioner was in a 

nonwork-related car accident.  

11.  Petitioner reported to work the next day, Tuesday, 

January 24, but worked for only a few hours before clocking out.  

He was paid with “personal time” leave for 10 hours--the 

remainder of his January 24 shift. 

12.  On Wednesday, January 25, Petitioner worked his regular 

shift; he was not scheduled to work again until Monday,  

January 30. 

13.  Meanwhile, on Thursday, January 26, Petitioner obtained 

a medical note which states, “Robert Pace has been under my care 

today, 01/26/17, may return to work on Monday, 01/30/17.” 

14.  The next work day, Monday, January 30, Petitioner 

worked his normal shift. 

15.  On Tuesday, January 31, Petitioner did not come to work 

and was paid for 12 hours with vacation leave.   

16.  On Wednesday, February 1, Petitioner returned to work 

and provided his supervisor with a form from his medical provider 

which indicated Petitioner was restricted in the type of work he 

could perform.  Specifically, the work restriction form placed 

limitations on the following activities until February 14:   
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a.  lifting, pushing or pulling 10 pounds; 

b.  stooping, bending or climbing; and 

c.  kneeling or squatting.  

 

Petitioner requested alternative work, such as sweeping or 

tallying products (verifier), but was told there were no jobs for 

him to do.  He was sent home and paid with personal time leave 

for 12 hours.  

17.  Arkins made the decision to send Petitioner home on 

February 1.  She explained she made her decision because there 

were no “light duty” positions, and there was no other such work 

in the SC Warehouse that would not violate Petitioner’s work 

restrictions.  She noted that of particular concern was the 

medical restriction that did not allow him to bend or climb, so 

she believed he would be unable to get in and out of the forklift 

machine.  She also testified all of the other positions required 

unloading or moving heavy boxes over 10 pounds.  Jackson 

corroborated this testimony.  

18.  On February 1, Respondent’s Human Resources manager 

sent Petitioner a letter indicating that Saddle Creek had no work 

within his current work restrictions.  Because the restrictions 

were for more than one week, the letter informed Petitioner of 

his options regarding Family Medical Leave, short term 

disability, and how he could use his personal time and/or 

vacation leave.  It also required Petitioner to provide a work 

release noting any restrictions upon his return.  The undersigned 
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finds there were no “light duty” positions available at the  

SC Warehouse that would conform to his work restrictions during 

this time frame. 

19.  Petitioner was not scheduled to work again until 

Monday, February 6.  On that date he arrived at work with a note 

from his medical provider dated February 3, indicating Petitioner 

was released to work with “No restrictions.”   

20.  Petitioner was returned to his regular schedule and 

worked February 6, 7 and 8; he was allowed to “pick up” an extra 

shift on Saturday, February 11.  In total, Petitioner missed one 

day of work (February 1) due to his work restrictions.   

Alleged Comparators   

21.  Petitioner alleged in his charge of discrimination and 

at the hearing that white employees were not sent home or 

required to take leave when they were injured.  Rather, when 

white employees were injured, they were allowed to perform “light 

duty” positions.  Petitioner identified Jessica Swinyer and Jacob 

Bigsby as two white employees who were injured, but allowed by 

Saddle Creek to work in the warehouse, instead of being sent 

home.  

22.  Petitioner introduced photographs of Swinyer working in 

the warehouse with a brace on one of her hands.  In these photos 

Swinyer is standing near a calculator holding paperwork.  Swinyer 

testified at the time of the photos she held the position of 
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verifier at the SC Warehouse.  She injured her hand in a nonwork-

related injury in May 2017.   

23.  Swinyer furnished a medical note to Saddle Creek dated 

May 8, indicating she had “[n]o use of Right Hand until 

reevaluated.  Must wear splint at all times while at work.”  

Swinyer did not return to work until she was released from her 

work restrictions on May 12, with a medical note stating she “may 

return to work with no restrictions, but to wear brace for an 

additional week – 2 weeks.”   

24.  Swinyer did not work her regular shifts between May 8 

and May 12.  In total she missed three shifts and returned to 

work on May 15.  During this time she was paid using “personal 

time” leave.  When she returned to the SC Warehouse, she 

performed all of her duties while using a hand brace.  Swinyer’s 

testimony was corroborated by Arkins, as well as her time cards.     

25.  Petitioner believed Swinyer was allowed to perform less 

arduous tasks than her normal duties while she worked with the 

brace, but Swinyer testified to the contrary; Swinyer could 

perform all her duties with a brace.  Petitioner admitted he was 

not privy to Swinyer’s medical documentation, nor was he aware 

that she was on “personal time” leave at the time her work 

restrictions were in effect.  The undersigned finds Swinyer’s 

testimony believable and consistent with the documentation.  
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26.  Petitioner also claimed Bigsby, a forklift operator, 

was allowed to operate the forklift while he was injured.  The 

evidence established in January 2017, Bigsby suffered an on-the-

job injury during an extra shift while he was “throwing cases of 

writing pads.”   

27.  Bigsby provided Saddle Creek with medical documentation 

which stated he had an injured groin, but could return to work on 

January 20, on “Limited duty:  No squatting.  Minimal bending & 

climbing.  No lifting more than 10 pounds.”   

28.  Bigsby’s time card indicates he was placed on “W1,” 

defined as “Workers Comp - Dr. Appt” leave on Friday, January 20; 

worked his next two shifts on Monday and Tuesday, January 23  

and 24; and took a vacation day for his shift scheduled on 

Wednesday, January 25.  Although it is unclear when he returned 

to work, he presented Saddle Creek with a subsequent note, dated 

January 27, indicating he had no work restrictions. 

29.  Jackson confirmed Bigsby made a workers’ compensation 

claim for the groin injury and was on work restrictions.  He 

allowed Bigsby to work on the forklift because Bigsby’s 

restrictions stated he was allowed to perform “minimal” bending 

and climbing.  Jackson believed this allowed Bigsby to climb into 

and out of the forklift.  In contrast, Jackson believed the 

medical documentation for Petitioner did not allow any bending or 



11 

climbing, and, thus, Petitioner was not allowed to get into or 

out of the forklift. 

30.  Petitioner admitted he never saw the medical 

documentation for Bigsby and did not have knowledge of the 

specific work restrictions imposed on him.  Based on the 

unrebutted evidence, it is clear Bigsby’s work restrictions were 

narrower than Petitioner’s, and allowed Bigsby to operate the 

forklift.  

31.  As explained below, Petitioner has failed to 

demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that Saddle Creek 

treated him differently than non-African American employees when 

it did not allow him to work due to the work restrictions.  

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving 

Saddle Creek committed an unlawful employment action against him 

in violation of the FCRA. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

32.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

cause pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11(7), 

Florida Statutes.  See Fla. Admin. Code R. 60Y-4.016; and 

McElrath v. Burley, 707 So. 2d 836, 841 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1998)(finding FCRA on its face satisfies the right to due process 

by providing for an administrative hearing followed by judicial 

appellate review).
3/
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33.  The FCRA protects individuals from discrimination in 

the workplace.  See §§ 760.10 and 760.11, Fla. Stat.  Section 

760.10 states, in pertinent part: 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 

 

(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual’s race, color, religion, sex, 

pregnancy, national origin, age, handicap, or 

marital status. 

 

34.  Because the FCRA is patterned after federal anti-

discrimination laws, such as Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 

1964 (Title VII), courts rely on federal Title VII cases when 

analyzing race discrimination claims brought pursuant to the 

FCRA.  See Ponce v. City of Naples, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 169635, 

at *11 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 2017); Harper v. Blockbuster Entm’t Corp., 

139 F.3d 1385, 1387 (11th Cir. 1998)(finding complaint fails for 

the same reasons under Title VII and the FCRA); Valenzuela v. 

GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009). 

35.  Petitioner puts forth a “disparate treatment” theory of 

race discrimination.  Specifically, he alleges Saddle Creek 

violated the FCRA based on his race by providing injured white 

employees “light duty” work, but denying him the same opportunity 

when he was injured.   
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36.  The burden of proof in an administrative proceeding is 

on Petitioner as the complainant.  See Dep’t of Banking & Fin., 

Div. of Sec. & Investor Prot. v. Osborne Stern & Co., 670 So. 2d 

932, 935 (Fla. 1996)(“The general rule is that a party asserting 

the affirmative of an issue has the burden of presenting evidence 

as to that issue.”).  To show a violation of the FCRA, Petitioner 

must establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, a prima facie 

case of discrimination.  See St. Louis v. Fla. Int’l Univ., 60 So. 

3d 455, 458-59 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011)(reversing jury verdict awarding 

damages on FCRA racial discrimination and retaliation claims where 

employee failed to show similarly situated employees outside his 

protected class were treated more favorably).  A “prima facie 

case” means it is legally sufficient to establish a fact or that a 

violation happened unless disproved. 

37.  “Preponderance of the evidence” is the “greater weight” 

of the evidence, or evidence that “more likely than not” tends to 

prove the fact at issue.  This means that if the undersigned found 

the parties presented equally competent substantial evidence, 

Petitioner would not have proved his claims by the “greater 

weight” of the evidence, and would not prevail in this proceeding.  

See Gross v. Lyons, 763 So. 2d 276, 289 n.1 (Fla. 2000). 

38.  Courts follow the framework set forth in McDonnell 

Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-04, 93 S. Ct. 1817,  
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36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973), for establishing an FCRA discrimination 

claim based on disparate treatment.  See, e.g., St. Louis v. Fla. 

Int’l Univ., 60 So. 3d at 458-59.  In this case, the framework 

involves a three-step process.  Petitioner must first establish a 

prima facie case of race discrimination; if Petitioner does so, a 

presumption of discrimination arises against Respondent.  Then, 

Respondent has the burden to present a legitimate, non-

discriminatory reason for not placing Petitioner on light duty and 

sending him home until his restrictions were lifted or changed; if 

Respondent can establish such a reason, Petitioner’s presumption 

of discrimination evaporates.  Finally, Petitioner has the burden 

of proving the reason established by Respondent was a pretext for 

discrimination.  A “pretext” is a reason given in justification 

for conduct that is not the real reason.  McDonnell Douglas 

Corp., 411 U.S. at 802; Scholz v. RDV Sports, Inc., 710 So. 2d 

618, 624 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998)(evaluating a race discrimination 

claim under FCRA). 

39.  To meet the first step, Petitioner must show:  (1) he 

belongs to a protected class (race); (2) he was qualified for his 

position (forklift operator); (3) he was subjected to an adverse 

employment action (refused “light duty”); and (4) his employer 

treated similarly situated employees outside of his protected 

class (Swinyer and Bigsby) more favorably than he was treated.  
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See McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802-04; Burke-Fowler v. Orange 

Cnty., 447 F.3d 1319, 1323 (11th Cir. 2006). 

40.  There is no dispute Petitioner, as an African-American, 

was in a protected class.  Moreover, Petitioner was qualified for 

the position of forklift operator when not on his work 

restrictions.  Nonetheless, Petitioner has not shown the third and 

fourth requirements of a prima facie case. 

41.  Establishing the third element of an “adverse employment 

action” is a crucial component in any discrimination claim under 

the FCRA, because without it, there is no relief.  See Davis v. 

Town of Lake Park, Fla., 245 F.3d 1232, 1235 (11th Cir. 2001) 

(adverse employment action is required to obtain relief under 

Title VII’s anti-discrimination clause).  To show he suffered an 

“adverse employment action,” Petitioner “must show a serious and 

material change in the terms, conditions, or privileges of 

employment.”  Id. at 1239.  

42.  Not all conduct by an employer that negatively affects 

an employee constitutes “adverse employment action” under anti-

discriminations laws.  Id. at 1238.  “Trivial harms” and “petty 

slights” unconnected to any “tangible job consequences,” do not 

constitute an adverse employment action.  See Juback v. Michaels 

Stores, Inc., 143 F. Supp. 3d 1195, 1206 (M.D. Fla. 2015).   

43.  Additionally, “the employee’s subjective view of the 

significance and adversity of the employer’s action is not 
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controlling; the employment action must be materially adverse as 

viewed by a reasonable person in the circumstances.”  Id. at 1239; 

see also Hyde v. K. B. Home, Inc., 355 F. App’x 266, 268-69 (11th 

Cir. 2009). 

44.  Petitioner alleges he was treated less favorably by not 

being allowed to work “light duty.”  As an initial matter, 

Petitioner did not prove there was “light duty” work available. 

Regardless, although Petitioner was not allowed to work “light 

duty” on February 1, he was paid for not working with “personal 

time.”  This was not leave he accumulated and lost (or for which 

he would be paid if he did not use it).  Rather, it was leave that 

would have otherwise expired had he not used it.  There was no 

evidence he suffered any humiliation, financial loss, or a 

decrease in benefits from not being able to work on February 1.  

Based on the evidence presented, Saddle Creek’s failure to allow 

Petitioner to work “light duty” on February 1, was not an “adverse 

employment action.” 

45.  Nor did Petitioner establish that employees outside his 

protected class, Bigsby and Swinyer, were similarly situated or 

treated more favorably.  “When comparing similarly situated 

individuals to raise an inference of discriminatory motivation, 

these individuals must be similarly situated in all relevant 

respects.”  Jackson v. BellSouth Telecomm., 372 F.3d 1250, 1273 

(11th Cir. 2004).  If this is not the case, “the different 
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application of workplace rules does not constitute illegal 

discrimination.”  Lathem v. Dep’t of Child. & Youth Servs.,  

172 F.3d 786, 793 (11th Cir. 1999).  Here, Swinyer was in a 

position of verifier (not forklift operator) and had a different 

type of injury.  Thus, both her job duties and work restrictions 

cannot be compared to Petitioner’s situation.  Bigsby had the same 

position, but had a different kind of work-related injury and 

dissimilar work restrictions.  

46.  Assuming Petitioner could establish the comparability of 

Bigsby and Swinyer, Petitioner still cannot show preferential 

treatment.  Petitioner observed two white employees working 

despite their injuries, and he believed he too should also be 

allowed to work with his injury.  What he did not know was these 

white employees had different work restrictions, and that they 

also had taken time off during the time they were on work 

restrictions.  Although Petitioner may have validly felt he was 

being treated differently, in reality all three employees were 

treated the same; they were allowed to work to the extent their 

individual work restrictions allowed it.  Applying the McDonnell 

Douglas analysis to this case, Petitioner has not established a 

prima facie case. 

47.  Even if Petitioner had presented enough evidence to 

establish a prima facie case of discrimination, Saddle Creek has 

the opportunity to establish a nonrace-related reason for its 
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actions.  In evaluating the employer’s reason for its actions, 

the reason should be clear, reasonably specific, and worthy of 

credence.  See Dep’t of Corr. v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d 1183, 1186 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1991).  The employer has the burden of production, 

not the burden of persuasion, to demonstrate to the finder of 

fact that the decision was non-discriminatory.  See Flowers v. 

Troup Cnty., 803 F.3d 1327, 1336 (11th Cir. 2015).  The employer 

only needs to produce evidence of a reason for its decision.  It 

is not required to persuade the trier of fact that its decision 

was actually motivated by the reason given.  St. Mary’s Honor 

Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (U.S. 1993).  

48.  Saddle Creek meets this burden by establishing:  (1) it 

had no “light duty” positions available for Petitioner; and  

(2) it believed--based on Petitioner’s medical documentation--he 

could not climb in or out of the forklift.  It is totally 

reasonable for an employer to comply with a medical provider’s 

restrictions in order to prevent an employee from further 

injuring him or herself.  The fact Petitioner was allowed to work 

as soon as this restriction was lifted, further supports Saddle 

Creek’s explanation for its actions. 

49.  Completing the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting 

analysis, Petitioner did not prove that Saddle Creek’s stated 

reasons for denying him “light duty” and requiring him to take 

leave, were merely “pretexts” for discrimination.  The 
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evidentiary record does not support a finding or conclusion that 

Saddle Creek’ explanations are false or not worthy of credence. 

50.  As established by the credible testimony of Arkins and 

Jackson, the employment actions regarding Petitioner, Swinyer, 

and Bigsby were consistent with each other and compliant with 

company policy.  Conversely, while Petitioner repeatedly asserted 

that Saddle Creek treated him less favorably than the other 

employees, the evidence in the record does not establish 

disparate treatment or that Saddle Creek’s actions were in any 

way based on or influenced by race.   

51.  Consequently, Petitioner did not meet his ultimate 

burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Saddle 

Creek’s actions were racially discriminatory or in violation of 

the FCRA.  Accordingly, Petitioner’s Petition for Relief must be 

dismissed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations issue a final order finding that Petitioner, Robert E. 

Pace, Sr., did not prove that Respondent, Saddle Creek Corp., 

committed an unlawful employment practice against him; and 

dismissing his Petition for Relief from an unlawful employment 

practice. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 22nd day of October, 2018, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

HETAL DESAI 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 22nd day of October, 2018. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  After he filed the Employment Complaint of Discrimination with 

the Commission relevant to these proceedings, Petitioner ended 

his employment with Saddle Creek.  The parties indicated 

Petitioner had filed another FCHR Complaint of Discrimination 

regarding his termination.  The undersigned did not allow 

evidence regarding the circumstances of Petitioner’s departure 

from Saddle Creek at the final hearing. 

 
2/
  At the SC Warehouse, different products arrive in container 

trucks from a variety of vendors; the containers are unloaded, 

and the products are repackaged.  These repackaged products are 

placed on pallets and loaded onto trucks for distribution to  

44 different Sam’s Club locations.  

 
3/
  Section 760.11(7) permits a party for whom the Commission 

determines that there is not reasonable cause to believe that a 

violation of the FCRA has occurred to request an administrative 

hearing.  “The aggrieved person may request an administrative 

hearing under ss. 120.569 and 120.57, but any such request must 

be made within 35 days of the date of determination of reasonable 

cause and any such hearing shall be heard by an administrative 

law judge and not by the commission or a commissioner.”   

§ 760.11(7), Fla. Stat. 



21 

COPIES FURNISHED: 

 

Tammy S. Barton, Agency Clerk 
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Robert E. Pace, Sr. 
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Helen Price Palladeno, Esquire 

Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak & Stewart, P.C. 

Suite 3600 
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Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

Room 110 

4075 Esplanade Way 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-7020 

(eServed) 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

DENISE JAMES, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

MILOS, 

 

     Respondent. 

_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 18-4090 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

This case was heard before Administrative Law Judge 

Robert L. Kilbride of the Division of Administrative Hearings on 

August 29, 2018, by video teleconference with sites in 

Tallahassee and Miami, Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Denise James, pro se 

                 10101 West Indigo Street 

                 Miami, Florida  33157 

 

For Respondent:  Jennifer A. Schwartz, Esquire 

                 Naveen Paul, Esquire 

                 Jackson Lewis, P.C. 

                 One Biscayne Tower, Suite 3500 

                 2 South Biscayne Boulevard 

                 Miami, Florida  33131 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

     Whether Respondent, Milos, illegally terminated Petitioner 

based on her race (Black), in violation of the Florida Civil 

Rights Act ("FCRA"), section 760.10, Florida Statutes (2018). 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

     On December 8, 2017, Denise James ("Petitioner") filed a 

Charge of Discrimination ("Charge") against Milos ("Respondent" or 

"Milos") with the Florida Commission on Human Relations ("FCHR").  

In her Charge, Petitioner alleged that she was terminated from 

employment because of her race.
1/ 

     On January 29, 2018, Respondent submitted its Position 

Statement, which explained that Petitioner was terminated from 

employment on September 21, 2017, after she failed to call in or 

report for work, without explanation, for seven consecutive days 

following Hurricane Irma's landfall in South Florida.   

     The FCHR investigated the Charge, and on June 28, 2018, 

"determined that no reasonable cause exists to believe that an 

unlawful practice occurred."  

     Taking exception to this determination, Petitioner filed a 

Petition for Relief on August 1, 2018, to request an 

administrative hearing concerning FCHR's determination. 

     FCHR referred the matter to the Division of Administrative 

Hearings to conduct a hearing and the case was assigned to the 

undersigned, Robert L. Kilbride. 

     On August 29, 2018, a final hearing was held before the 

undersigned.  

     At the hearing, sworn testimony was offered by the parties.  

Petitioner testified on her own behalf.  Milos called as witnesses 
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Arman Arsan ("Arsan"), head chef at Milos, and Karla Faundez 

("Faundez"). 

     At the hearing both parties admitted exhibits into evidence.  

Petitioner admitted Exhibits 1 and 3 through 5.  Respondent 

admitted Exhibits 1 through 23. 

     The undersigned directed the parties to submit proposed 

recommended orders within ten days of receipt of the Transcript of 

the final hearing. 

     Petitioner submitted a short handwritten letter.  Respondent 

filed a proposed recommended order.  Both were given due 

consideration by the undersigned in the preparation of this 

Recommended Order. 

     All references herein to the Florida Statutes refer to the 

2017 version, unless otherwise noted. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

     The undersigned makes the following findings of material and 

relevant fact: 

     1.  Petitioner is a Black female who worked for Milos as a 

line cook.   

     2.  Respondent is a Greek restaurant located in Miami, 

Florida. 

     3.  On January 12, 2016, Respondent hired Petitioner for a 

line cook position.  Petitioner was interviewed and hired by 

Arsan.   
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     4.  Arsan supervises all back-of-the-house staff and was 

Petitioner's supervisor throughout her entire 20-month period of 

employment.    

     5.  On May 30, 2016, approximately four and a half months 

after Petitioner's hire at Milos, Arsan gave Petitioner a raise in 

pay because he felt that she was performing well.   

     6.  Many of the employees Arsan supervises at Milos are 

Black.   

I.  PETITIONER'S PERFORMANCE ISSUES AT MILOS 

     7.  On September 23, 2016, Petitioner was suspended for 

insubordination and violating company policies and procedures.  

Resp. Ex. 7 and 8.   

     8.  More specifically, Arsan was notified by the sous chef 

that there had been an argument between Petitioner and a coworker.  

Arsan attempted to investigate the dispute and found Petitioner to 

be very emotional and aggressive during the investigation.  She 

was asked to leave but refused.  Eventually, she left the 

premises.   

     9.  This incident came on the heels of another similar 

incident involving a verbal argument with a coworker, which 

occurred on September 17, 2016.   

     10.  Subsequently, on April 28, 2017, Petitioner was involved 

in another workplace argument with an employee named Rosa Salazar 
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("Salazar").  Resp. Ex. 10.  The manager on duty intervened and 

attempted to resolve the dispute and calm the parties down.  After 

he did so, Petitioner left work without permission and left early 

the following day as well.   

     11.  On June 27, 2017, a third employee named Ishay (a.k.a., 

Ayse Akbulut) complained that she could not work with Petitioner 

at their assigned station because Petitioner was "being rude and 

territorial."  Resp. Ex. 11.   

     12.  Arsan spoke to Petitioner and resolved the matter 

between the two employees.  However, he documented the incident as 

other employees had previously complained about Petitioner 

creating a hostile working environment.    

     13.  On June 30, 2017, Petitioner reportedly was involved in 

yet another workplace incident with Sonya Cabret ("Cabret").  

Cabret complained that Petitioner made racially charged and 

demeaning comments to her based on Cabret's Haitian national 

origin.  

     14.  More specifically, Cabret complained that Petitioner 

called her an "ignorant Haitian," a "f___ing Haitian," and stated 

that Cabret does not know how to speak English and that Cabret 

could not find a job anywhere else.   

     15.  Two months prior, Salazar had also complained that 

Petitioner made derogatory remarks to her based on Salazar's Latin 

ethnicity.  Resp. Ex. 12 and 13.   
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     16.  Salazar recounted that Petitioner had called her a  

"f____ing Latino."  Arsan disciplined Petitioner by counseling her 

and sending her home for the day.    

     17.  Each of the above incidents occurred prior to Hurricane 

Irma in September 2017.   

     18.  The undersigned finds that these incidents, and their 

related warnings and discipline, are relevant to the ultimate 

decision to discharge Petitioner and have some bearing on the 

propriety and necessity for termination. 

II.  PETITIONER'S FAILURE TO RETURN TO WORK AFTER HURRICANE IRMA 

     19.  At some point in time on Wednesday, September 6, 2017, 

Arsan informed all employees that Milos would be closed at the end 

of the work day due to the approaching landfall of Hurricane Irma. 

     20.  Petitioner had been scheduled to report to work on 

September 6, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., but she did not do so.   

     21.  At 12:40 p.m. on September 6, 2017, Petitioner texted 

Arsan that she could not report to work because she was evacuating 

to Georgia due to Hurricane Irma.  However, she hoped to return to 

work the following Tuesday (September 12, 2017).  Resp. Ex. 14.  

     22.  After the hurricane had passed, on September 10, 2017, 

Arsan sent a group text message to all back-of-the-house staff 

alerting them that the restaurant was "closed for Monday" 

(September 11, 2017) and "we will be probably open for Tuesday" 

(September 12, 2017).  Resp. Ex. 15. 
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     23.  Petitioner received this text message. 

     24.  Petitioner never informed Arsan that she would not be 

back from Georgia by September 12, 2017, as she mentioned in her 

text message on September 6, 2017.   

     25.  Believing Petitioner would be back in Miami on 

September 12, 2017, Arsan scheduled Petitioner to work Wednesday, 

September 13, 2017.  Resp. Ex. 16. 

     26.  On September 13, 2017, Petitioner did not call in or 

report for work.   

     27.  That same day, Arsan called Petitioner to find out why 

she did not report to work.  Petitioner did not answer or return 

Arsan's call.   

     28.  On September 14, 2017, Petitioner again failed to call 

in or report for work.   

     29.  Arsan again attempted to reach Petitioner by telephone, 

but she did not answer.   

     30.  Arsan then sent Petitioner a text message notifying her 

that she was scheduled to be at work.   

     31.  Petitioner responded to Arsan's text messages on 

September 14, 2017, and the following discussion ensued:   

Arsan:  "Denise you are scheduled to work 

today[.]" 

 

Petitioner:  "Nobody called me and told me 

anything I cannot get out until Tuesday or 

Wednesday I'll [sic] area was hit bad and the 
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bus is [sic] down here start running 

Wednesday[.]" 

 

Arsan:  "Denise everybody is at work except 

you.  How the bus starting [sic] on wednesday, 

[sic] half of staff is using the bus and they 

are here, The buses working [sic] fine." 

 

Petitioner:  "When you come to my family I 

don't care about no job [sic] that's not my 

life we had an emergency down here we don't 

have any lights some of the buses is not 

running my house got water in it I am coming 

from Georgia so I might not be back until 

Thursday I have a lot of stuff to take care of 

in my house[.]" 

 

Arsan:  "Please help let [sic] me understand 

your situation are you in Miami? or Georgia? 

 

Petitioner:  I will be in Miami tonight I 

still have a lot of stuff to do at my. . . . 

 

Resp. Ex. 14.  

     32.  Arsan and Petitioner did not have any further 

communications after this text message exchange.  Further, 

Petitioner did not initiate or attempt to send any more text 

messages to Arsan after the September 14, 2017, exchange.   

     33.  Petitioner did not report for work scheduled on 

September 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, or 20.    

     34.  Petitioner testified that she did not report to work 

from September 13, 2017, to September 20, 2017, because she was 

attending to damage to her home caused by the hurricane.    

     35.  Based on Petitioner's text message that she does not 

"care about no job [sic]," Arsan, after consulting with Milos' 
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outside contracted human resource company, removed Petitioner from 

the schedule for the week of Monday, September 18, 2017, to 

Sunday, September 24, 2017.   

     36.  On September 21, 2017, Petitioner showed up at Milos to 

work.   

     37.  Arsan believed Petitioner had abandoned her job and did 

not expect her to report to work again.   

     38.  After she arrived, Arsan directed Petitioner to speak to 

Faundez, Milos' outside human resource representative at Eleva 

Solutions.   

     39.  Contrary to what Petitioner told Arsan (i.e., that she 

missed work because she was attending to damage in her home from 

the hurricane), Petitioner gave Faundez three different reasons 

for her failure to call in or show up for work the preceding week:  

(a) she did not know that she was supposed to be at work; 

(b) there was no bus transportation; and (c) Petitioner had to be 

evacuated.    

     40.  Faundez concluded that Petitioner's reasons for failing 

to appear for work were inconsistent and conflicted with each 

other.  She also did not believe that Petitioner had provided a 

definitive or plausible answer explaining why she had not returned 

to work.  

     41.  After consultation, Faundez and Arsan decided together 

to terminate Petitioner's employment.   
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     42.  Arsan was not the sole decision-maker with respect to 

Petitioner's termination.   

     43.  Prior to her termination and despite having received 

Respondent's antidiscrimination policy and complaint procedures, 

Petitioner never complained that Arsan was discriminating against 

her because of her race. 

     44.  During the course of the hearing, Petitioner was unable 

to identify any employee(s) outside of her protected class who 

engaged in the same conduct and were not terminated from 

employment.   

     45.  Specifically, on cross-examination, Petitioner admitted 

that she was unable to identify a single non-Black employee who 

failed to show up for work following the hurricane and who was not 

terminated from employment.   

     46.  The evidence Petitioner offered to support her race 

discrimination claim was vague, unpersuasive, and included only 

conclusory and general allegations by her that Arsan "was a 

racist" and is a "nasty human being." 

     47.  There were no emails, texts, documents, or other direct 

evidence from Petitioner or Arsan supporting her claim that she 

was fired by Milos because of her race.  Likewise, Petitioner 

called no witnesses to offer any compelling facts or circumstances 

to support her claim.   
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

     48.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction 

over the subject matter of this proceeding and the parties 

pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11, Florida 

Statutes (2018). 

     49.  Under Title VII, it is unlawful for an employer "to 

discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any 

individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or 

privileges of employment, because of such individual's race 

. . . ."  42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). 

     50.  The FCRA likewise prohibits discrimination in the 

workplace.  Among other things, the FCRA makes it unlawful for an 

employer "[t]o discharge . . . or otherwise to discriminate 

against any individual with respect to compensation, terms, 

conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual's race . . . ."  § 760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat. 

     51.  Claims under the FCRA are subject to the same 

substantive law and legal standards as claims under Title VII of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e; Johnson v. Great 

Express Dental Ctrs. of Fla., P.A., 132 So. 3d 1174, 1176 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 2014); and Wilbur v. Corr. Servs. Corp., 393 F.3d 1192, 1195 

n.1 (11th Cir. 2004).  See also Byrd v. BT Foods, Inc., 26 So. 3d 

600, 605 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). 
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METHODS OF PROOF 

     52.  Racial discrimination prohibited by Title VII and the 

FCRA can be proven one of two ways:  either through (1) direct 

evidence that an employer intended to discriminate against an 

individual because of his or her race or (2) through 

circumstantial evidence.  Hill v. Metro. Atlanta Rapid Transit 

Auth., 841 F.2d 1533, 1539 (11th Cir. 1987), modified by, 848 F.2d 

1522 (11th Cir. 1988).   

     53.  "[O]nly the most blatant remarks whose intent could be 

nothing other than to [discriminate/retaliate]" constitute direct 

evidence.  See Carter v. City of Miami, 870 F.2d 578, 582 (11th 

Cir. 1989). 

     54.  In this case, Petitioner submitted no persuasive or 

credible direct evidence of racial discrimination.  

     55.  Petitioner, no doubt, had a strong belief about Arsan's 

motives, but presented no direct testimonial or documentary 

evidence to support her claim that Arsan was motivated by racial 

discrimination.  For instance, there were no emails, texts, or 

credible statements from Arsan or other management level 

supervisors at Milos that Arsan or Milos intended to discriminate 

against Petitioner because of her race. 

     56.  As a result, her race discrimination claim must be 

analyzed under the second method--circumstantial evidence--to 

determine if she made out a prima facie case.  See McDonnell 
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Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-803 (1973); See also 

Texas Dept. of Cmty. Aff. v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981); 

St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993); Reeves v. 

Sanderson Plumbing Prod., Inc., 530 U.S. 133 (2000). 

     57.  To prove a discrimination case by circumstantial 

evidence, Petitioner must first establish a prima facie, or 

legally sufficient, case of discrimination.  Sims v. MVM, Inc., 

704 F.3d 1327, 1333 (11th Cir. 2013).   

     58.  If Petitioner establishes a prima facie case, the burden 

then shifts to Respondent to produce a legitimate 

nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action or 

termination.  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 248, 254.
2/
  

     59.  If a prima facie case has been established and the 

employer offers a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for the 

termination, the burden then shifts back to Petitioner to show 

that the nondiscriminatory reason given for her firing is a 

pretext or just made up.  Petitioner may accomplish this "by 

showing that the employer's explanation is unworthy of credence."  

Reeves, 530 U.S. at 143 (citing Burdine, 450 U.S. at 256). 

THE ELEMENTS OF RACE DISCRIMINATION 

     60.  The elements necessary to prove a case of race 

discrimination are simple and straightforward.  Petitioner has the 

burden to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, the 

following elements:  (1) that she is a member of a protected 
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class; (2) that she was subjected to an adverse employment action; 

(3) that she was qualified for the job at issue; and (4) that she 

was treated less favorably than a similarly situated individual 

outside her protected class.  Maynard v. Bd. of Regents, 342 F.3d 

1281, 1289 (11th Cir. 2003).  See also Coles v. Post Master Gen. 

U.S. Postal Servs., 711 Fed Appx. 890 (11th Cir. 2017). 

     61.  The undersigned concludes that Petitioner's race 

discrimination claim fails as a matter of law because she did not 

establish the fourth element of her prima facie case. 

     62.  The first and second elements of the Maynard test were 

proven and require no detailed discussion.  

     63.  Contrary to the position taken by Milos, Petitioner 

satisfied the third element needed to make out a prima facie case 

of race discrimination.  

     64.  Regarding what evidence is required for a plaintiff to 

satisfy the third qualification element of the prima facie test, 

the law is explicit.  At the prima facie stage, a court should 

focus on a plaintiff's objective qualifications to determine 

whether he or she is qualified for the relevant job.  Wexler v. 

White's Fine Furniture, 317 F.3d 564 (6th C.A. 2003). 

     65.  The prima facie burden of showing that Petitioner was 

qualified for the job is met by presenting credible evidence that  
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her qualifications are at least equivalent to the minimum 

objective criteria required for employment in the relevant field. 

Id. 

     66.  Petitioner demonstrated that she possessed the required 

general skills for the job as line cook.  Based on the evidence 

concerning her hiring, tenure, job responsibilities, and the raise 

she received, the undersigned concludes that she made out a prima 

facie case that she was qualified for the job, as that phrase is 

intended by Title VII and the FCRA.  

     67.  As to the fourth element, however, Petitioner fell far 

short of the proof required.  Under the fourth element of Maynard, 

Petitioner was required to prove that she was treated less 

favorably than a similarly situated individual outside her 

protected class.  

     68.  A similarly situated employee or comparator must be 

similarly situated in all relevant aspects.  Trask v. Sec'y, Dep't 

of Vets' Aff., No. 15-11709, 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 6168, (11th Cir. 

2016).  "The comparator must be 'nearly identical' to [Petitioner] 

to prevent courts from second guessing a reasonable decision by 

the employer."  Id.   

     69.  Petitioner did not identify any non-Black employee 

comparators (White or Hispanic) who failed to call in or timely 

return to work following Hurricane Irma, and who were not 

terminated from employment.  Put a different way, there was no 



 

16 

proof that a White or Hispanic failed to return to work after the 

hurricane like she did, but was not terminated.  

     70.  Petitioner's failure to identify a single comparator who 

did the same and was treated more favorably is fatal to her claim.  

See, e.g., Peters v. HealthSouth of Dothan, Inc., 542 Fed. Appx. 

782, 785 (11th Cir. 2013) (affirming district court's finding that 

plaintiff "had not established a prima facie case for disparate 

treatment based on her termination because she failed to identify 

a valid comparator outside her race that was treated more 

favorably").  

     71.  As a result, Petitioner did not establish a prima facie 

case of race discrimination, and her claim fails as a matter of 

fact and law. 

     72.  Even if Petitioner had established a prima facie case of 

discrimination, Respondent convincingly established a legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason for the termination of her employment: 

Petitioner's failure to return to work for seven consecutive days 

following Milos' reopening after Hurricane Irma, her conflicting 

reasons for her failure to return to work, and her text message to 

Arsan stating "I don't care about no job [sic] that's not my 

life."   

     73.  The undersigned concludes that under the circumstances 

surrounding her absence--her failure to stay in touch and her 

failure to report for scheduled work--Arsan and Faundez credibly 
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concluded that her text message was either (1) a voluntary 

resignation by her or (2) was sufficient cause to terminate her.   

     74.  To be clear, Petitioner did not present a prima facie 

case of racial discrimination, and the analysis ended there.  

Mathew v. Va. Union Univ., 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 5540 (4th Cir. 

1992).  

     75.  However, even if she had presented a prima facie case of 

race discrimination, Respondent established a legitimate 

nondiscriminatory reason for Petitioner's termination, and the 

burden of production would have shifted back to Petitioner to 

"introduce significantly probative evidence showing that the 

asserted reason is merely a pretext or made up excuse for 

discrimination."  Zaben v. Air Prods. & Chems., Inc., 129 F.3d 

1453, 1457 (11th Cir. 1997).  Petitioner failed to do so. 

     76.  In short, Petitioner failed to prove that the reasons 

asserted by Respondent for terminating her were a pretext or made 

up.  Hicks, 509 U.S. at 502; Conner v. Ft. Gordon Bus. Co., 761 

F.2d 1495, 1500 (11th Cir. 1985).    

     77.  In this case the undersigned also considered that there 

is a permissible inference against finding discrimination since 

Arsan had been the decision-maker with regard to Petitioner's 

hire, pay increase, and termination.  Williams v. Vitro Servs. 

Corp., 144 F.3d 1438, 1442 (11th Cir. 1998) (stating the "same 

actor" factual scenario "may give rise to a permissible inference 
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that no discriminatory animus motivated" the decision-maker's 

actions); Robinson v. Alutiiq-Mele, LLC, Case No. 07-20778-CIV-

GOLD/McALILEY, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33341, (S.D. Fla. 2008) 

("Where as here, the same individual who hired or promoted the 

plaintiff is the one who fires or demotes him, there is an 

inference that the decision was not motivated by discriminatory 

animus."). 

     78.  It is important for the parties to understand a simple 

point about workplace terminations:  in evaluating claims of 

discrimination in the workplace, courts do not sit as 

a super-personnel department that reexamines a company's business 

decisions.  Davis v. Town of Lake Park, Fla., 245 F.3d 1232, 1244 

(11th Cir. 2001).  Whether an employment decision was prudent, 

just, or fair is immaterial, because an employer "may fire an 

employee for a good reason, a bad reason, a reason based on 

erroneous facts, or for no reason at all," as long as its action 

is not for a discriminatory reason.  Nix v. WLCY Radio/Rahall 

Commc'ns, 738 F.2d 1181, 1187 (11th Cir. 1984).  

     79.  Further, an employee may not recast the employer's 

proffered nondiscriminatory reasons or substitute her business 

judgment for that of the employer.  Chapman v. AI Transport, et 

al., 229 F.3d 1012, 1030 (11th Cir. 2000).  Provided that the 

reason offered by Milos is one that might motivate a reasonable 

employer to terminate an employee (failure of Petitioner to report 
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back to work after the hurricane), Petitioner had to meet that 

reason head on and rebut it.  Petitioner failed to do so.  The 

employee cannot succeed by simply quarreling or disagreeing with 

the wisdom of that decision.  Id. 

     80.  Finally, while Arsan's and Faundez's decision to 

terminate Petitioner may seem unfair, callous, or even 

unjustified, this does not convert an otherwise permissible 

termination into an unlawful or illegal termination.  Zook v. 

Benada Aluminum Fla., Inc., Case No. 15-5538, 2016 Fla. Div. 

Admin. Hear. LEXIS 30, at *19 (Fla. DOAH Jan. 27, 

2016)(recommending dismissal of petitioner's claims because while 

the termination "may seem unfair, abrupt, or even unjustified, 

this does not convert an otherwise legitimate termination into an 

unlawful or illegal termination"). 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations dismiss Petitioner's Petition for Relief with prejudice 

and find in Respondent's favor. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 23rd day of October, 2018, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

ROBERT L. KILBRIDE 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 23rd day of October, 2018. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Milos' correct legal name is "Milos by Costas Spiliadis, Inc." 

 
2/
  Significantly, however, if a prima facie case is not 

established by Petitioner, the inquiry ends and a ruling should 

be entered for the employer.  No further proof is required.  Kidd 

v. Mando Am. Corp., 731 F.3d 1196, 1202 (11th Cir. 2013); and 

Mathew v. Va. Union Univ., 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 5540 (4th Cir. 

1992). 
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_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 18-0297 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

A formal hearing was conducted in this case on June 26, 

2018, in Jacksonville, Florida, before Lawrence P. Stevenson, a 

duly-designated Administrative Law Judge with the Division of 

Administrative Hearings (“DOAH”). 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Ramon Santiago Lopez, pro se 

                      10404 Lawson Road 

                      Jacksonville, Florida  32246 

 

 For Respondent:  Alva Cross Crawford, Esquire 

                      Littler Mendleson, P.C. 

                      2301 McGee Street, Suite 800 

                      Kansas City, Missouri  64108 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue is whether Respondent, Wal-Mart Stores East, LP 

(“Walmart”), discriminated against Petitioner, Ramon Santiago 

Lopez (“Petitioner”), based upon his national origin or age, 

and/or terminated his employment in retaliation for engaging in 



 

2 

protected activity, in violation of section 760.10, Florida 

Statutes (2016).
1/
   

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On or about January 9, 2017, Petitioner filed with the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations (“FCHR”) a Technical 

Assistance Questionnaire for Employment Complaints against 

Walmart.  Petitioner alleged Walmart discriminated against him 

because of his age (over 40) and national origin 

(Hispanic/Cuban).  He also alleged that Walmart terminated his 

employment on January 14, 2016, in retaliation for engaging in 

protected activity.  At some point subsequent to January 9, 

2017, Petitioner filed with FCHR an Employment Charge of 

Discrimination
2/
 against, Walmart expressing the same allegations 

as the Technical Assistance Questionnaire.     

The FCHR conducted an investigation of Petitioner’s 

allegations.  On December 15, 2017, the FCHR issued a written 

determination that there was no reasonable cause to believe that 

an unlawful practice occurred.  The FCHR’s determination stated 

as follows, in relevant part: 

The Complainant in this matter filed a 

charge of discrimination against the 

Respondent alleging that he was subjected to 

different terms and conditions of employment 

and discharged because of his age and 

national origin.  The facts and evidence as 

set forth in the Investigative Memorandum do 

not support the Complainant’s allegation.  

The evidence in this matter reveals that the 
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Complainant was terminated because he did 

not comply with the Respondent’s policy 

regarding honesty and integrity when he 

misappropriated property that belonged to a 

customer of the Respondent.  The Complainant 

was not terminated due to his age and 

national origin and he did not provide any 

credible evidence to prove otherwise.  

Likewise, the Complainant did not provide 

any credible evidence to prove that he was 

subjected to different terms and conditions 

of employment. 

 

On January 16, 2018, Petitioner timely filed a Petition for 

Relief with the FCHR.  On January 17, 2018, the FCHR referred 

the case to DOAH.  The case was scheduled for hearing on 

March 28, 2018.  The hearing was continued twice, once because 

Respondent lost its lead counsel on the eve of the final 

hearing, and once because Petitioner missed a scheduled 

deposition due to illness.  The hearing was ultimately scheduled 

for June 26, 2018, on which date it was convened and completed. 

At the hearing, Luis Nunez acted as the Spanish language 

interpreter for Petitioner. 

Petitioner testified on his own behalf and entered 

Petitioner’s composite Exhibit 1 into evidence.  Petitioner’s 

Exhibit 2 was accepted for demonstrative purposes.  Respondent 

presented the testimony of former Asset Protection Manager 

Joshua Cregut, former Assistant Store Manager April Johnson, and 

Store Manager Scott Mallatt.  Respondent’s Exhibits 7, 8, and 10 

through 19 were entered into evidence.   
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The one-volume Transcript of the hearing was filed at DOAH 

on July 23, 2018.  On August 7, 2018, Respondent filed a motion 

to extend the time for submitting proposed recommended orders, 

which was granted by Order dated August 14, 2018.  In accordance 

with the Order granting extension, Petitioner timely filed his 

proposed recommended order on August 21, 2018, and Respondent 

timely filed its proposed recommended order on August 22, 2018.   

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Walmart is an employer as that term is defined in 

section 760.02(7).  Walmart is a national retailer. 

2.  Petitioner is a Cuban (Hispanic) male.  He was 62 years 

old when he was hired by Walmart in November 2005 and was 

72 years old at the time of his dismissal. 

3.  Petitioner was initially hired to work at a store in 

Jacksonville, but transferred to Tampa.  In June 2010, 

Petitioner requested a transfer back to Jacksonville and was 

assigned to Store 4444 on Shops Lane, just off Philips Highway 

and I-95 in Jacksonville. 

4.  The store manager at Store 4444 was Scott Mallatt.  

Mr. Mallatt approved Petitioner’s transfer request and testified 

that he “very much” got along with Petitioner.  Petitioner 

confirmed that he never had a problem with Mr. Mallatt. 

5.  Petitioner testified that when he first started at 

Store 4444, he had no problems.  After about four months, 
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however, he began reporting to a supervisor he recalled only as 

“Lee.”  Petitioner described Lee as “kind of a maniac.”  Lee 

would harass Petitioner and give him impossible assignments to 

accomplish.  Petitioner testified that he complained repeatedly 

to Mr. Mallatt about Lee’s abuse, but that nothing was ever done 

about it.  Eventually, Petitioner gave up complaining to 

Mr. Mallatt. 

6.  Mr. Mallatt testified that Petitioner never complained 

to him about being discriminated against because of his national 

origin or age.  Petitioner apparently did complain about being 

overworked, but never tied these complaints to any 

discriminatory intent on the part of Lee.  Petitioner testified 

that Lee no longer worked at Store 4444 in January 2016. 

7.  From 2010 to 2015, Petitioner worked from 1:00 p.m. to 

10:00 p.m. in various departments, including Grocery, Dairy, 

Paper, Pet, and Chemical.  In 2015, Petitioner spoke with 

Mr. Mallatt about working at least some day shifts rather than 

constant nights.  Mr. Mallatt approved Petitioner’s request.  In 

August 2015, Petitioner was moved to the day shift in the 

Maintenance department.  As a day associate, Petitioner 

typically worked from 8:30 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

8.  Assistant Store Manager April Johnson transferred to 

Store No. 4444 in October 2015.  Petitioner reported directly to 

Ms. Johnson. 



 

6 

9.  On January 14, 2016, Petitioner was scheduled to work 

from 8:30 a.m. until 5:30 p.m.  He drove his van into the 

parking lot of Store No. 4444 at approximately 7:58 a.m.  He 

parked in his usual spot, on the end of a row of spaces that 

faced a fence at the border of the lot.  Petitioner liked this 

spot because the foliage near the fence offered shade to his 

vehicle. 

10.  Closed circuit television (“CCTV”) footage, from a 

Walmart camera with a partial view of the parking lot, shows 

Petitioner exiting his vehicle at around 8:00 a.m.  Petitioner 

testified that he could see something on the ground in the 

parking lot, 50 to 60 meters away from where his van was parked.  

The CCTV footage shows Petitioner walking across the parking 

lot, apparently toward the object on the ground. 

11.  Petitioner testified there were no cars around the 

item, which he described as a bucket of tools.  Petitioner 

stated that the bucket contained a screwdriver, welding gloves, 

a welding face mask, and a hammer. 

12.  The CCTV footage does not show the bucket.  Petitioner 

crosses the parking lot until he goes out of camera range.
3/
  A 

few seconds later, Petitioner returns into camera range, walking 

back toward his car while carrying the bucket of tools. 
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13.  When Petitioner reaches his van, he opens the rear 

door, places the bucket of tools inside, then closes the rear 

door. 

14.  Petitioner testified that after putting the tools in 

the back of his van, he went to the Customer Service Desk and 

informed two female African American customer service associates 

that he had found some tools and put them in his car.  

Petitioner conceded that he told no member of management about 

finding the tools. 

15.  Walmart has a written Standard Operating Procedure for 

dealing with items that customers have left behind on the 

premises.  The associate who finds the item is required to take 

the item to the Customer Service Desk, which functions as the 

“lost and found” for the store.  Mr. Mallatt and Ms. Johnson 

each testified that there are no exceptions to this policy. 

16.  Petitioner was aware of the Standard Operating 

Procedure.  On prior occasions, he had taken found items to the 

Customer Service Desk.  Petitioner conceded that it would have 

been quicker to take the bucket of tools to the Customer Service 

Desk than to his van.  However, he testified that he believed 

that he could have been fired if he had taken the tools to the 

desk before he had clocked in for work.  Petitioner cited a 

Walmart policy that made “working off the clock” a firing 

offense. 
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17.  It transpired that the policy to which Petitioner 

referred was Walmart’s Wage and Hour policy, which states in 

relevant part: 

It is a violation of law and Walmart policy 

for you to work without compensation or for 

a supervisor (hourly or salaried) to request 

you work without compensation.  You should 

never perform any work for Walmart without 

compensation. 

 

18.  This language is plainly intended to prevent Walmart 

from requiring its employees to work without compensation.  

Petitioner, whose English language skills are quite limited, was 

adamant that this policy would have allowed Walmart to fire him 

if he performed the “work” of bringing the tools to the Customer 

Service Desk before he was officially clocked in for his shift.  

Therefore, he put the tools in his van for safekeeping and 

informed the Customer Service Desk of what he had done. 

19.  Petitioner was questioned as to why he believed it was 

acceptable for him to report the situation to the Customer 

Service Desk, but not acceptable for him to bring the tools to 

the desk.  The distinction he appeared to make was that the act 

of carrying the tools from the parking lot to the desk would 

constitute “work” and therefore be forbidden, whereas just 

stopping by to speak to the Customer Service Desk associate was 

not “work.” 
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20.  The evidence established that Petitioner would not 

have violated any Walmart policy by bringing the tools to the 

Customer Service Desk before he clocked in.  He could have been 

compensated for the time he spent bringing in the tools by 

making a “time adjustment” on his time card.  Mr. Mallatt 

testified that time adjustments are done on a daily basis when 

associates perform work prior to clocking in or after clocking 

out.  Petitioner merely had to advise a member of management 

that he needed to make the time adjustment.  Mr. Mallatt was 

confident that the adjustment would have been granted under the 

circumstances presented in this case. 

21.  Petitioner did not go out to retrieve the tools after 

he clocked in.  Mr. Mallatt stated that employees frequently go 

out to their cars to fetch items they have forgotten, and that 

Petitioner absolutely would have been allowed to go get the 

tools and turn them in to the Customer Service Desk. 

22.  Later on January 14, 2016, Ms. Johnson was contacted 

by a customer who said tools were stolen off of his truck.
4/
  

Ms. Johnson had not heard anything about lost tools.  She looked 

around the Customer Service Desk, but found no tools there.  

Ms. Johnson also called out on the store radio to ask if anyone 

had turned in tools. 

23.  Finally, the customer service manager at the Customer 

Service Desk told Ms. Johnson that Petitioner had said something 
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about tools earlier that morning.  Ms. Johnson called Petitioner 

to the front of the store and asked him about the missing tools.  

Petitioner admitted he had found some tools in the parking lot 

and had placed them in his vehicle. 

24.  Ms. Johnson asked Petitioner why he put the tools in 

his vehicle.  Petitioner told her that he was keeping the tools 

in his car until the owner came to claim them.  Ms. Johnson 

testified that Petitioner offered no other explanation at that 

time.  He just said that he made a “mistake.”  Ms. Johnson 

explained to Petitioner that putting the tools in his vehicle 

was not the right thing to do and that he should have turned 

them in to “lost and found,” i.e., the Customer Service Desk.  

Petitioner was sent to his van to bring in the tools. 

25.  After this initial conversation with Petitioner, 

Ms. Johnson spoke with Mr. Mallatt and Mr. Cregut to decide how 

to treat the incident.  Mr. Cregut obtained approval from his 

manager to conduct a full investigation and to interview 

Petitioner.  Mr. Cregut reviewed the CCTV footage described 

above and confirmed that Petitioner did not bring the tools to 

the Customer Service Desk. 

26.  Ms. Johnson and Mr. Cregut spoke with Petitioner for 

approximately an hour to get his side of the story.  Petitioner 

also completed a written statement in which he admitted finding 

some tools and putting them in his car. 
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27.  Mr. Cregut described Petitioner as “very tense and 

argumentative” during the interview.  As the interview 

continued, Mr. Cregut testified that Petitioner’s reaction to 

the questions was getting “a little bit more hostile [and] 

aggressive.”  Mr. Cregut decided to try to build rapport with 

Petitioner by asking him general questions about himself.  This 

tactic backfired.  Petitioner volunteered that he was a Cuban 

exile and had been arrested several times for his opposition to 

the Castro regime.  Petitioner then claimed that Mr. Cregut 

discriminated against him by asking about his personal life and 

prejudged him because of his activism.  

28.  Mr. Cregut credibly testified that he did not judge or 

discriminate against Petitioner based on the information 

Petitioner disclosed and that he only asked the personal 

questions to de-escalate the situation.  Mr. Cregut’s only role 

in the case was as an investigative factfinder.  His report was 

not colored by any personal information disclosed by Petitioner. 

29.  At the conclusion of the investigation, Mr. Mallatt 

made the decision to terminate Petitioner’s employment.  The 

specific ground for termination was “Gross Misconduct – 

Integrity Issues,” related to Petitioner’s failure to follow 

Walmart policy by bringing the tools to the Customer Service 

Desk.  Mr. Mallatt testified that his concern was that 

Petitioner intended to keep the bucket of tools if no owner 
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appeared to claim them.  Mr. Mallatt credibly testified that had 

Petitioner simply taken the tools to the Customer Service Desk, 

rather than putting them in his vehicle, he would have remained 

employed by Walmart.      

30.  Walmart has a “Coaching for Improvement” policy 

setting forth guidelines for progressive discipline.  While the 

progressive discipline process is used for minor and/or 

correctable infractions, such as tardiness, “serious” misconduct 

constitutes a ground for immediate termination.  The coaching 

policy explicitly sets forth “theft” and “intentional failure to 

follow a Walmart policy” as examples of serious misconduct 

meriting termination. 

31.  Petitioner conceded that no one at Walmart overtly 

discriminated against him because of his age or national origin.  

He testified that he could feel the hostility toward Hispanics 

at Store 4444, but he could point to no particular person or 

incident to bolster his intuition. 

32.  Petitioner claimed that his dismissal was in part an 

act of retaliation by Ms. Johnson for his frequent complaints 

that his Maintenance counterparts on the night shift were not 

adequately doing their jobs, leaving messes for the morning crew 

to clean up.  Ms. Johnson credibly testified that Petitioner’s 

complaints did not affect her treatment of him or make her want 
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to fire him.  In any event, Ms. Johnson played no role in the 

decision to terminate Petitioner’s employment. 

33.  Petitioner’s stated reason for failing to follow 

Walmart policy regarding found items would not merit a moment’s 

consideration but for Petitioner’s limited proficiency in the 

English language.  It is at least conceivable that someone 

struggling with the language might read the Walmart Wage and 

Hour policy as Petitioner did.   

34.  Even so, Petitioner was familiar with the found items 

policy, and common sense would tell an employee that he would 

not be fired for turning in customer property that he found in 

the parking lot.  At the time of his dismissal, Petitioner had 

been working at Walmart for over 10 years.  It is difficult to 

credit that he was completely unfamiliar with the concept of 

time adjustment and truly believed that he could be fired for 

lifting a finger to work when off the clock. 

35.  Walmart showed that in 2016 it terminated three other 

employees from Store 4444 based on “Gross Misconduct – Integrity 

Issues.”  All three were under 40 years of age at the time their 

employment was terminated.  Two of the employees were African 

American; the third was Caucasian.  Petitioner offered no 

evidence that any other employee charged with gross misconduct 

has been treated differently than Petitioner.  
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36.  At the hearing, Petitioner’s chief concern did not 

appear to be the alleged discrimination, but the implication 

that he was a thief, which he found mortally offensive.  It 

could be argued that Mr. Mallatt might have overreacted in 

firing Petitioner and that some form of progressive discipline 

might have been more appropriate given all the circumstances, 

including Petitioner’s poor English and his unyielding 

insistence that he never intended to keep the tools.   

37.  However, whether Petitioner’s dismissal was fair is 

not at issue in this proceeding.  The issue is whether Walmart 

has shown a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for 

terminating Petitioner’s employment.  At the time of his 

dismissal, Petitioner offered no reasonable explanation for his 

failure to follow Walmart policy.  Mr. Mallatt’s suspicion 

regarding Petitioner’s intentions as to the tools was not 

unfounded and was not based on any discriminatory motive. 

38.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence disputing the 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons given by Walmart for his 

termination. 

39.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that Walmart’s 

stated reasons for his termination were a pretext for 

discrimination based on Petitioner’s age or national origin. 

40.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that his 

termination was in retaliation for his engaging in protected 
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activity.  The employee who was allegedly retaliating against 

Petitioner played no role in the decision to terminate his 

employment. 

41.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that Walmart 

discriminated against him because of his age or national origin 

in violation of section 760.10.       

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

42.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction of the subject matter of and the parties to this 

proceeding.  §§ 120.569 and 120.57(1), Fla. Stat. 

43.  The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (the "Florida 

Civil Rights Act" or the "Act"), chapter 760, prohibits 

discrimination in the workplace.  

44.  Section 760.10 states the following, in relevant part: 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 

  

(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual's race, color, religion, sex, 

national origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status. 

  

45.  Walmart is an "employer" as defined in section 

760.02(7), which provides the following: 

(7)  "Employer" means any person employing 

15 or more employees for each working day in 

each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the 
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current or preceding calendar year, and any 

agent of such a person. 

 

46.  Florida courts have determined that federal case law 

applies to claims arising under the Florida's Civil Rights Act, 

and, as such, the United States Supreme Court's model for 

employment discrimination cases set forth in McDonnell Douglas 

Corporation v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 

668 (1973), applies to claims arising under section 760.10, 

absent direct evidence of discrimination.
5/
  See Harper v. 

Blockbuster Entm’t Corp., 139 F.3d 1385, 1387 (11th Cir. 1998); 

Paraohao v. Bankers Club, Inc., 225 F. Supp. 2d 1353, 1361 (S.D. 

Fla. 2002); Fla. State Univ. v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923, 925 n.1 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Fla. Dep’t of Cmty. Aff. v. Bryant, 586 

So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). 

47.  Under the McDonnell analysis, in employment 

discrimination cases, Petitioner has the burden of establishing 

by a preponderance of evidence a prima facie case of unlawful 

discrimination.  If the prima facie case is established, the 

burden shifts to the employer to rebut this preliminary showing 

by producing evidence that the adverse action was taken for some 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reason.  If the employer rebuts 

the prima facie case, the burden shifts back to Petitioner to 

show by a preponderance of evidence that the employer's offered 
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reasons for its adverse employment decision were pretextual.  

See Texas Dep’t of Cmty. Aff. v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248,  

101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981). 

48.  In order to prove a prima facie case of unlawful 

employment discrimination under chapter 760, Petitioner must 

establish that:  (1) he is a member of the protected group; 

(2) he was subject to adverse employment action; (3) Walmart 

treated similarly situated employees outside of his protected 

classifications more favorably; and (4) Petitioner was qualified 

to do the job and/or was performing his job at a level that met 

the employer’s legitimate expectations.  See, e.g., Jiles v. 

United Parcel Serv., Inc., 360 Fed. Appx. 61, 64 (11th Cir. 

2010); Burke-Fowler v. Orange Cnty., 447 F.3d 1319, 1323 (11th 

Cir. 2006); Knight v. Baptist Hosp. of Miami, Inc., 330 F.3d 

1313, 1316 (11th Cir. 2003); Williams v. Vitro Serv. Corp., 

144 F.3d 1438, 1441 (11th Cir. 1998); McKenzie v. EAP Mgmt. 

Corp., 40 F. Supp. 2d 1369, 1374-75 (S.D. Fla. 1999). 

49.  Petitioner has failed to prove a prima facie case of 

unlawful employment discrimination. 

50.  Petitioner established that he is a member of a 

protected group, in that he is over 40 years of age and is 

Hispanic (Cuban).  Petitioner established that he was subject to 

an adverse employment action, in that he was dismissed from his 

position as a day associate after holding the same basic job for 
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more than 10 years.  Petitioner was qualified for the job and 

had performed it at a level that met Walmart’s expectations up 

to the point he was dismissed.   

51.  However, no evidence supports an inference that 

Petitioner was discriminated against based upon his age or 

national origin.  Petitioner offered no persuasive evidence to 

establish that any similarly situated employee was treated 

differently by Walmart.
6/
   

52.  Walmart presented adequate evidence of legitimate, 

non-discriminatory reasons for Petitioner's termination.  

Petitioner’s failure to follow a clear policy regarding the 

handling of found property was itself a firing offense under 

Walmart’s “Coaching for Improvement” policy.  Petitioner was 

aware of the policy, having followed the correct procedure for 

the handling of found items on at least one previous occasion.  

Further, the manner in which Petitioner chose to handle the 

bucket of tools he found in the parking lot raised reasonable 

suspicions that he intended to keep the items in the event the 

rightful owner did not appear to claim them.   

53.  A court’s role is not to sit as a “super-personnel 

department that reexamines an entity’s business decisions.”  

Denney v. City of Albany, 247 F.3d 1172, 1188 (11th Cir. 2001) 

(quoting Elrod v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 939 F.2d 1466, 1470 

(11th Cir. 1991)).  While the undersigned might have stopped 
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short of firing Petitioner, it is not this tribunal’s function 

to second-guess Mr. Mallatt’s personnel decision.  Petitioner 

offered no evidence that his dismissal was because of his age or 

national origin, or for any reason other than that asserted by 

Walmart.   

54.  Section 760.10 states the following, in relevant part: 

(7)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer, an employment agency, a 

joint labor-management committee, or a labor 

organization to discriminate against any 

person because that person has opposed any 

practice which is an unlawful employment 

practice under this section, or because that 

person has made a charge, testified, 

assisted, or participated in any manner in 

an investigation, proceeding, or hearing 

under this section. 

 

55.  Because the McDonnell analysis also applies in 

employment retaliation cases, Petitioner has the burden of 

establishing by a preponderance of evidence a prima facie case 

of unlawful retaliation.  See, e.g., Burlington N. & Santa Fe v. 

White, 548 U.S. 53 (2006).    

56.  In order to prove a prima facie case of unlawful 

employment retaliation under chapter 760, Petitioner must 

establish that:  (1) he engaged in protected activity; (2) he 

suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) there was a 

causal relationship between (1) and (2).  See Pennington v. City 

of Huntsville, 261 F.3d 1262, 1266 (11th Cir. 2001).
7/
  To 

establish this causal relationship, Petitioner must prove “that 
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the unlawful retaliation would not have occurred in the absence 

of the alleged wrongful action or actions of the employer.”  

Univ. of Tex. Med. Ctr. v. Nassar, 133 S. Ct. 2517, 2533 (2013).  

This standard has also been called “but-for causation.”  See, 

e.g., Frazier-White v. Gee, 818 F.3d 1249, 1258 (11th Cir. 2016) 

57.  Petitioner at least arguably established that he 

engaged in protected activity by complaining to his immediate 

supervisor about the working conditions at Store 4444. 

58.  Petitioner established that he suffered an adverse 

employment action by having his employment at Walmart 

terminated. 

59.  Petitioner has failed to establish the element of 

causation.  Petitioner’s theory is that his complaints to his 

supervisor, Ms. Johnson, angered her and led to his firing.  The 

facts at hearing demonstrated that Ms. Johnson was not bothered 

by Petitioner’s complaints, and that in any event, Ms. Johnson 

was not involved in the decision to terminate Petitioner’s 

employment.   

60.  The termination decision was made by Mr. Mallatt, with 

whom Petitioner had a congenial relationship up to January 14, 

2016.  There was no evidence that Mr. Mallatt was aware of 

Petitioner’s complaints to Ms. Johnson at the time Petitioner 

was fired.  The courts recognize a “common sense” requirement 

that “[a] decision maker cannot have been motivated to retaliate 
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by something unknown to him.”  Brungart v. BellSouth Telecomms., 

Inc., 231 F.3d 791, 799 (11th Cir. 2000).
8/
   

61.  In summary, Petitioner failed to establish that 

Walmart’s reason for terminating his employment was based on his 

age or national origin.  Petitioner likewise failed to establish 

that Walmart’s adverse employment action was in retaliation for 

his having engaged in protected activities.     

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is  

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

issue a final order finding that Wal-Mart Stores East, LP, did 

not commit any unlawful employment practices and dismissing the 

Petition for Relief filed in this case. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 25th day of October, 2018, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

LAWRENCE P. STEVENSON 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 
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Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 25th day of October, 2018. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Citations shall be to Florida Statutes (2016) unless 

otherwise specified.  Section 760.10 has been unchanged since 

1992, save for a 2015 amendment adding pregnancy to the list of 

classifications protected from discriminatory employment 

practices.  Ch. 2015-68, § 6, Laws of Fla. 

 
2/
  The Employment Charge of Discrimination document was not part 

of the record. 

 
3/
  Asset Protection Manager Joshua Cregut testified that the 

outdoor cameras were locked into a fixed position and there was 

an unfortunate blind spot in the view of the parking lot.  

Petitioner insisted that the cameras were not fixed and that 

Walmart was withholding exculpatory video footage.  Mr. Cregut’s 

testimony on this point is credited.  Petitioner was very 

concerned with an allegation (not made by Walmart but by the 

owner of the bucket of tools) that he had stolen the tools off 

the back of the owner’s truck.  Petitioner’s testimony that he 

found the tools on the ground is credited.  There is no need for 

video footage to confirm Petitioner’s testimony on this point. 

 
4/
  Petitioner denied that the bucket of tools was on a truck.  

He steadfastly testified that the bucket was on the ground in 

the parking lot, with no cars nearby.  The undersigned credits 

Petitioner’s testimony on this point.  Most likely, the customer 

took the bucket out of the truck while loading his purchases, 

then forgot and drove off without it.  When he later discovered 

the bucket was missing, the customer decided it had been stolen.  

For Walmart’s purposes, the important factor was that Petitioner 

knew the tools belonged to someone else, but did not follow the 

proper procedure for turning them in.  

 
5/
  “Direct evidence is ‘evidence, which if believed, proves 

existence of fact in issue without inference or presumption.’”  

Rollins v. TechSouth, Inc., 833 F.2d 1525, 1528 n.6 (11th Cir. 

1987) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 413 (5th ed. 1979)).  In 

Carter v. City of Miami, 870 F.2d 578, 582 (11th Cir. 1989), the 

court stated:   

 



 

23 

This Court has held that not every comment 

concerning a person's age presents direct 

evidence of discrimination.  [Young v. Gen. 

Foods Corp. 840 F.2d 825, 829 (11th Cir. 

1988)].  The Young Court made clear that 

remarks merely referring to characteristics 

associated with increasing age, or facially 

neutral comments from which a plaintiff has 

inferred discriminatory intent, are not 

directly probative of discrimination.  Id.  

Rather, courts have found only the most 

blatant remarks, whose intent could be 

nothing other than to discriminate on the 

basis of age, to constitute direct evidence 

of discrimination. 

 

Petitioner offered no evidence that would satisfy the 

stringent standard of direct evidence of discrimination. 

 
6/
  As to the question of disparate treatment, the applicable 

standard was set forth in Maniccia v. Brown, 171 F.3d 1364, 

1368-1369 (11th Cir. 1999): 

 

"In determining whether employees are 

similarly situated for purposes of 

establishing a prima facie case, it is 

necessary to consider whether the employees 

are involved in or accused of the same 

or similar conduct and are disciplined in 

different ways."  Jones v. Bessemer Carraway 

Med. Ctr., 137 F.3d 1306, 1311 (11th 

Cir.), opinion modified by 151 F.3d 1321 

(1998) (quoting Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 

1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 1997)).  "The most 

important factors in the disciplinary 

context are the nature of the offenses 

committed and the nature of the punishments 

imposed."  Id.  (internal quotations and 

citations omitted).  We require that the 

quantity and quality of the comparator's 

misconduct be nearly identical to prevent 

courts from second-guessing employers' 

reasonable decisions and confusing apples 

with oranges.  See Dartmouth Review 

v. Dartmouth College, 889 F.2d 13, 19 (1st 

Cir.1989) ("Exact correlation is neither 

likely nor necessary, but the cases must be 
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fair congeners.  In other words, apples 

should be compared to apples.").  (Emphasis 

added). 

 

The Eleventh Circuit has questioned the "nearly identical" 

standard enunciated in Maniccia, but has in recent years 

reaffirmed its adherence to it.  See, e.g., Brown v. Jacobs 

Eng’g, Inc., 572 Fed. Appx. 750, 751 (11th Cir. 2014); Escarra 

v. Regions Bank, 353 Fed. Appx. 401, 404 (11th Cir. 2009); 

Burke-Fowler, 447 F.3d at 1323 n.2.   

 

In any event, Petitioner in the instant case failed to 

provide any persuasive evidence to establish disparate 

treatment. 

 
7/
  Florida courts have articulated an identical standard: 

 

To establish a prima facie case of 

retaliation under section 760.10(7), a 

plaintiff must demonstrate:  (1) that he or 

she engaged in statutorily protected 

activity; (2) that he or she suffered 

adverse employment action and (3) that the 

adverse employment action was causally 

related to the protected activity.  See 

Harper v. Blockbuster Entm’t Corp., 139 F.3d 

1385, 1388 (11th Cir.), cert. denied 525 

U.S. 1000, 119 S.Ct. 509, 142 L.Ed.2d 422 

(1998).  Once the plaintiff makes a prima 

facie showing, the burden shifts and the 

defendant must articulate a legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse 

employment action.  Wells v. Colorado Dep't 

of Transp., 325 F.3d 1205, 1212 (10th Cir. 

2003).  The plaintiff must then respond by 

demonstrating that defendant's asserted 

reasons for the adverse action are 

pretextual.  Id. 

 

Blizzard v. Appliance Direct, Inc., 16 So. 3d 922, 926 (Fla. 5th 

DCA 2009). 

 
8/
  Brungart was decided under the Family and Medical Leave Act, 

but its reasoning as to the element of retaliation has been 

repeatedly applied in cases involving Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.  See, e.g., 

Mitchell v. Mercedes-Benz U.S. Int’l, Inc., 637 Fed. Appx. 535, 
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539 (11th Cir. 2015); and Willis v. Publix Super Mkts., Inc., 

619 Fed. Appx. 960, 962 (11th Cir. 2015). 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 



TBD | 201843 TBD.R (Unofficial Reporter) | 1/27/2023 

www.TextBookDiscrimination.com | Get Booked Up on Justice | 73 of 74 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

https://www.textbookdiscrimination.com/


TBD | 201843 TBD.R (Unofficial Reporter) | 1/27/2023 

www.TextBookDiscrimination.com | Get Booked Up on Justice | 74 of 74 

 

COPYRIGHT NOTICE 

TextBookDiscrimination.com is not the author of these public 

documents. Instead, TextBookDiscrimination.com merely re-printed 

and reformatted them for easier use. 

 

ORIGINAL SOURCE 

# Item Link 

1 Original Source FCHR.MyFlorida.com 

2 Secondary Source DOAH.State.FL.US 

 

INTERACTIVE VERSION 

# Item Link 

1 Web TextBookDiscrimination.com/Reports/RO/ 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

E: TextBookDiscrimination@gmail.com 

W: www.TextBookDiscrimination.com 

 

 

Congratulations! You’re now booked up on these ‘Agency 

Recommended Orders’ that are pertinent to civil rights 

litigation! 

https://www.textbookdiscrimination.com/
https://fchr.myflorida.com/
https://doah.state.fl.us/
https://textbookdiscrimination.com/Reports/RO/Index.html
mailto:TextBookDiscrimination@gmail.com
https://www.textbookdiscrimination.com/

	R001
	R002
	R003
	appndx



